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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

TZVEE ROTBERG individually and on
behalf of all others similarly situated
Plaintiff, 16-CV-2962(JPO)

-V- OPINION AND ORDER

JOS. A. BANK CLOTHIERS, INC.et
al.,
Defendang.

J. PAUL OETKEN, District Judge:

Plaintiff Tzvee Rotberdprings this action on behalf of a putative class of individuals who
he allegehavereceived certain text messages from Defendants Jos. A. Bank Clothiers, Inc.
(“JAB”) and Vibes Media, LLC (“Vibes”)n violation of the Telephone Consumer Protection
Act (“TCPA”), 47 U.S.C. § 222t seq.(Dkt. No. 13 (“FAC”) 1 1.) Before the Court are
Defendantsmotionsto dismissRotbergs allegations fotack of standingoursuant to Federal
Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(Bnd for failure to state a claipursuant to Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 12(b)(6)(Dkt. Nos. 37, 39.) For the reasons that follD&fendantsmotions are
denied under Rule 12(b)(1), but granted under Rule 12(b)(6).

l. Background
A. The Telephone Consumer Protection Act

Congress enactetléd Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991, Pub. L. No. 102-243,
105 Stat. 239%codified at47 U.S.C. § 22)] in response to[¥/]Joluminous consumer complaints
about abuses of telephone technologylims v. Arrow Fin. Servs., LLG65U.S. 368, 370-71
(2012). At issue in the present action fetAct’s provision prohibiting any “person within the

United Statesfrom “mak[ing] any call (other than a call made. with the prior express consent
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of the called party) using any autaticaelephone dialing system .to. any telephone number
assigned to a. .cellular telephone service47 U.S.C. 8 227(6))(A)(iii) . The statute provides

a private right of action to any person contacted in violation of Section 227(b), and allows
plaintiffs to recover statutory damages of up to $500 for each violation and up to $1500 for each
knowing or willful violation. 1d. 8 227(b)(3). In enacting the TCPA, Congress directed the FCC
to “prescribe rgulations to implement the [A&] requirements Id. § 227(b)(2). Accordingly,

the Court’s analysis of the TCPA will be based in large part on the FCC’s in&iqumstof the
statutory language.

B. Factual Background

The following facts are drawn from the allegation®Rwtberg’s First Amended
Complaint, which are presumed true for the purposes of thesers.

Plaintiff Tzvee Rotberg is an individual residing in the state of New Y(#¥RC 1 8.)
Defendants JAB and Vibes drasiness entitieimcorporated in Delaware with principal places
of business in Maryland and lllinois, respective(iFAC 11 9-10.) Acting as JAB'’s agent,
VibessentRotbeag the text messages at issue in ttase on JAB’s behalf(FAC { 11.)

Although Rotberglleges that heeceived‘severdl text messages from Defendants
(FAC 1 16) hisTCPA claims ardased on just two of thosext messages (FAYTY 29, 31-32).

Rotbergdescribes thérst of those text messagasthe“initial marketingtext messagg
(FAC 1 14.) Rotberg's First Amended Complaint does not provigespecific date arontent of
the initial marketing text messadaut it does providesomeotherdetails regardinghat

messagé. Rotbergalleges that the initial marketing text message seas by Defendants tus

1 In contrastRotberg’s First Amendment Complaint provides the precise language of one
of the subsegent textmessage senty Defendants to Plaintiff, a message which Plaintiff does
not allege to have violated the TCPA. That text messzags as follows:



cellphone sometime prior to February 25, 20116.) (Rotbergavers thahe had provided his
phone number tthe Defendants prior toeceivingthat messagéut he does not describe when
or how he did so other than agsert thain providing the numbemnedid not consent to receiving
marketing text messages. (FAC  2BJtbergalso allegeshat the initial marketingext
messageeferredconsumers ta webpage with a set t¥lobile Terms and Conditiorisor
participation inJAB’s mobile marketing prograis administered by VibegFAC 1 23.)
Rotbergattaches screenshot of these Mobile Terms and Conditions as an Exhibit tostis Fir
AmendedComplaint. (Dkt. No. 13-1. Amongthe terms oparticipationrequired by that
documents the requirement thatonsumes consent to receive autodialed messagésny,

from Jos. A. Bank at the phone number from which [the conswserds] the text.” (d.)

The second text message on which Rotbesges his TCPA claims is an apit
confirmation text that Defatants sent to Rotbegdjterhetexted the word “stopto Defendants’
phone number. (FAC 25, 29.) Again, Rotberg does ndifigldre precise daten which he
received this text, bute does allege th#twas sent “[sJometime following February 25, 2016.”
(FAC 1 25.) Furthermore, while RotbelgyFirst Amended Complairgisodoes not providéhe
specific language of the eptt confirmation text, it does represent that tipe-out confirmation
text included the URL “Vibes.com/help,” aftbtbergattaches a screenshot of thetbpage as
an Exhibit to his FirsAmendedComplaint. (FAC | 25 Dkt. No. 13-2) That webpage consists
of a blank form under the header “Consumer Text Messaging Help Rdiskying users to

submit requests for help witbsues they experieneath Vibes’s textmessaging program. (DKkt.

JAB: Stock Up -BOG2 FREE Suits & Sportcoats+BOGO FREHRIge
Selection! Shop Online http:kg.com/50iwjh or in-store. Ends 2/28 Excls
Apply HELP4help, STOP2quit

(FAC 1 15.)



No. 13-2.) Rotberglleges that thiénked-to form constitutes marketing material becausedpe
and bottom of the webpage contain links witles such as “Meet Vibgs‘News,” “Events,”

and “Our Platforni each of which in turn leads consumers to webpages that promote Vibes’s
services.(FAC 1 26.) Rotbergalso attachescreenshotsf each of thesbnked-to webpages as
Exhibitsto his FirstAmendedComplaint. [d.; Dkt. Nos. 13-3 through 13-12.

Rotbergalleges that Defendants’ text messages were sent using an automatic telephone
dialing system (“ATDS” or “autodialer?) (FAC 1 18.)He describes Defendants’ autodialer as
having ‘the capacity to store or produce telepé numbers to be called, using a random or
sequential number generdt@FAC  19), an allegation that reprodusesbatim the statutory
definition ofthe term.See47 U.S.C. § 227(a)(1). Rotbeatso alleges that Defendants’
autodialeris able ta*send text messages to a cellular telephone nufrdrera list of telephone
numbers automatically and without human intervention.” (FAC { 20.)

Rotberg seeks to represent a class of all individualsalgmreceivedn initial
marketing text message or an-gpit confirmation text message from Defendants within four
years of the date of Rotbésdiling of his Complaint. (FAC 11 29-32.) With respect to injury,
Rotbergalleges that he “and members of the Class . . . were harmed by theetsrafants”
because the illegal text messages catgad'and the Class members to incur certahular
telephone charges or remucellular telephone time for which Plaintiff and the Crassnbers
previously paid, and inv§ed] the privacy of said Plaintiff and the Class membie(BAC | 34.)
The First Amendd Complaint seeks $500 in statutory damages for each of Defendants’
neglgent violations of the TCPAAC 11 44-45), and $1500 in statutory damages for each of

Defendantsknowing and/or willful violations of the TCPA&AC {1 4849).



C. Procedural Background

Rotbergcommenced this action by filing an Initial Complaagairst JABon April 21,
2016. (Dkt. No. 1.)Thelnitial Complaintallegedthat all ofJAB’s text messages Rotberg
were unsolicited and unconsented to (Dkt. No. 1 11 10-12, 17-18), and it dlasght
certification anddamagesn connection witlrevery text message sent b4B to Rotberg (Dkt.
No. 1 11 23, 25, 37-38, 41-42). The Initial Complaint did not descrigeeaifically reference
theinitial marketing and opbut confirmation text messages.

Prior to JAB’shaving answered or otherwise pesded to the Initial Complaint, Rotberg
filed a First Amended Complaint on June 15, 2016, which named both JAB and Vibes as
Defendants (Dkt. No. 13.) Defendants théited separate wtionsto dismiss the First
Amended Complaint on August 30, 2016, moving to dismiss under both Rule 12(b)(1) and Rule
12(b)(6). (Dkt. Nos. 37, 39.) In its motion, Defendant JAB asked the Court to take notice of the
specific content ofhe initial marketing and ogiut confirmation text messagasissue, as
represented ia settlement letter JAB had sent to Rotberg’s counsel prior to the filing ofrshe F
Amended Complaint. (Dkt. No. 40 at 8 n.2; Dkt. No. 41). Additionally, Defendant Vibes moved
the Court tastayRotberg’s action pending the outcomeaathallenge tothe Federal
Communications Commissitminterpretations of the statutory terrautomatic telephone
dialing systeni which wasbefore the D.C. Circuit. (Dkt. No. 38 at 19-22.)

On December 15, 2016, the Court granted Vibes’ request for a stay pending the outcome
of the D.C. Circuit'seview of the term “autadler.” (Dkt. No. 54.) After the D.C. Circuit
issued its opinion in March 2018ge ACA Int'l vFCC, 885 F.3d 687 (D.C. Cir. 2018), the
Court granted the parties’ joint motion to lift the stay and invited the parties to submit
supplemental briefing addressing the impadAGA Internationabn the Defendants’ reinstated

motions to dismiss (Dkt. No. 58Fupplemental briefing was concluded June 1, 2018 (Dkt.



No. 66), althouglsince that time thegsties have continued to provide notices of supplemental
or recent authority regarding the issues raisedefendants’ motions (Dkt. Nos. 67—-76.)

. Legal Standards

Courts consider motions to dismiss for wanAdicle Il standing under the rubric of
Federal Ruleof Civil Procedurel2(b)(1) All. For Envtl. Renewal, Inc. v. Pyramid Crossgates
Co, 436 F.3d 82, 88 n.6 (2d Cir. 200@ismissalof an action under Rule 12(b)(&)warranted
whenever alistrict court“lacks thestatutoryor constitutional power to adjudicate it,” such as
when . . the plaintiff lacks constitutional standing to bring the acti@ortlandt St. Recovery
Corp. v. Hellas Telecomms., S.A.R190 F.3d 411, 417 (2d. Cir. 2015) (quotMgrkova v.
United States201 F.3d 110, 113 (2d Cir. 2000 plaintiff bears the burden of establishitgy
standing by a preponderance of the evidel8seMarkova 201 F.3cat 113. ‘In assessing the
plaintiff’s assertion of standing, ‘[courtatcept as true all material allegations of the
complaint[] and . . . construe the complaint in favor of the complaining par@drtlandt St.
Recovery790 F.3d at 417 (quotiny.R. Huff Asset Mgmt. Co., LLC v. Deloitte & Touche,LLP
549 F.3d 100, 10@d Cir.2008). But courts may also considevidence outsidef the
pleadingdn assessing Rule 12(b)(1jnotion Cortlandt StRecovery790 F.3d at 417,
Markovg 201 F.3d at 113.

To surviveamotionto dismiss under RulE2(b)(6), a rintiff must plead facts sufficient
“to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its fadg€ll Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544,
570 (2007). This burden requiraglaintiff toplead factual content that allows the court to
draw the reasonabieference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct allegeshtroft
v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)Vhile factual allegations in a complaint are to be credited

true for purposes of Rule 12(b)(6) motionhe‘ tenet that a court must accept as true all of the



allegations contained in a complaint is inapplicable to legal conclusidneadbare recitals of
the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory statements, dizcebt klif

[Il.  Discussion
A. Motionsto Dismissunder Rule 12(b)(1)

The Courtturns first toDefendants’ motions tdismissRotbergs claimsfor lack of
standing. (Dkt. No. 38 at 11-16; Dkt. No. 40 at 15-21.)

The three essential requiremeotdrticle 11l standingare (1) “an injury in fact, @) that
is fairly traceable to the challenged conduct of the defendant, and (3) that igdikelyedressed
by a favorable judicial decision.Spokeo, Inc. v. Robin$36 S. Ct. 1540, 1547 (2016)n
“injury in fact” must be concrete and particuleather tharconjectural or hypotheticald. at
1548. The fact thatCongress has creatadrivateright of actionfor a statutory violations
insufficientby itselfto establiskan injury in fact wher¢hat violation is a bare procedural
violation, divorced fromany concrete harm.id. at 1549. Buaslong as an injury iparticular
and concretéthe injury-in-fact necessary for standing need not be large; an identifiable trifle
will suffice.” In re Methyl Tertiary Btyl Ether Prod. Liab. Litig.725 F.3d 65, 105 (2d Cir.
2013) prackets omitted(quotingLaFleur v. Whitman300 F.3d 256, 270 (2d Cir. 2002)).

All of the courts of appeals to have addresstathding challenges to TCPA claitngve
agreed that thmjuriescaused by automated telephone eallscluding cost,waste of time,
annoyance, and invasion of privacgreconcrete injuriesufficient to confer Article 111
standing.See Mejia v. Time Warner Cable Indos. 15 Civ. 6445 & 15 Civ. 6518, 2017 WL
3278926, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 1, 201{6iting cases from the Secoriighth, and Eleventh
Circuits); see alsd/an Patten v. Vertical Fitness GrjLC, 847 F.3d 1037, 1043 (9th Cir. 2017)

(holding that TCPA violations causa toncete injury in fact sufficient to confer Article 11



standing becausé[u] nsolicited telemarketing phone calls or text messages, by their nature,
invade the privacy and disturb the solitude of their recigients

Rotbergallegesthat he suffered thesame type®f injuries upon receipt of Defendants’
text messagegFAC 134.) In doing sohe “demonstrates more than a bare violation and
satisfies the concreiajury requirement for standirig Leyse v. Lifetime Entm’t Servs., LLC
679 F. App’x 44, 472d Cir.2017)(rejecting a standing challenge to TCPA claim)

Defendants argue that a different outcome is warranted here because, as distassed
Rotberg’s allegations turn entirely on the content of webpages linkedte texts at issue,
ratherthan on Defendants’ sending and Rotksergceivingof the actual texts themselves. (Dkt.
No. 38 at 12-16; Dkt. No. 40 at 16—-21.) According to Defendants, bealho$&otbergs
allegedinjuriesare traceablenly to hisreceipt of the relevant text messages rathertihan
Defendantsallegedwrongful use of those texts to sendhrketing materials, he fails to establish
that the injury he suffered fairly traceable to the wrongful aspects of Defendants’ conduct.
(Dkt. No. 38 at 13—14; Dkt. No. 40 at ) Defendants maintain that their inclusionatieged
marketing material in the relevant text messagasthusa “bare procedural violation, divorced
from any concrete harhrallegedly caused by their automasshding otext messagesSpokeo
136S. Ct.at 1549.

Defendants are correct in notititatonespecific featuref the text messages necessary
to establishthar illegality (marketing contentjloesnotalign with the feature of those text
messagethatRotberghas alleged causéiiks injury (their invasiveess. But Defendants’
argument demonstrates only that when choosing what class of unwanted phonesiessage
regulate Congresglid not makehe scope o€ivil liability coextensive with alunwanted phone

messages. Instead, Congrigiestified and targete@ subset of those injurious-fact messages



thatit found most troublesome aagpropriatelysubject tacivil liability. And thatcategoy of
unwanted phone messages singled out by Congress, which haddegied byconsumerss
the most irksome, consisted of “[p]hone calls from people selling things” and “phitmeaa
a computer trying to sell somethingH.R. Rep. No. 102-317, at 9 (199 ongress’shoice to
create a civitight of action for only a limited subset of invasive phone calls does not alter the
conclusionthatRotbergs allegedinjurieshere are concrete and are directly traceable to
Defendantsthallenged conduct, namely theending of unwantext message

In short, “Second Circuit authority indicates that the Plaintiff has standingsinadke to
pursue higTCPA] claim, and the Court sees no basis to conclude otherwise. The Court thus
turns to the merits of the disputeZani v. Rite Aid Headquarters Cor246 F. Supp. 3d 835,
847 (S.D.N.Y. 2017jrejecting standing challenge to TCPA claim where liabilityed on the
content ofautomated calls)

B. Motionsto Dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6)

“To make out a claim under the TCPA, plaintifff must show thia(1) [a defendant]
called heronhercell phone; (2) using an automated telephone dialing system cequeled
voice; (3) withoutherconsent.”King v. Time Warner Cabjd.13 F. Supp. 3d 718, 725
(S.D.N.Y. 2015)rev'd on other grounds894 F.3d 473 (2d Cir. 2018). The parties do not
dispute that Defendants’ alleged text messages to Rotberg constitutedtballsh& meaning of
the TCPA. Seeln re Rules and Regulations Implementing the Telephone Consumer Protection
Act of 1991, 18 FCC Rcd. 14,014, 14,115 165 (20€18)ifying that the TCPA'’s ban on
autodialer calls to cellphonesricompasses both voice calls and text'alBut Defendants
each move to dismiss Rotberg’s First Amended Complaint for failure to plausddgthié
other two elenents of his TCPA clairrthat Defendants used an ATPshd thatheycalled him

without his consent.



1. Request for Judicial Notice

As a threshold mattem¢ Court addresses Defendant JAB’s reqtiegthe Court take
notice of the specific content of thext messages Rotberg alleges he received from Defendants.
(Dkt. No. 40 at 8 n.2.) Although Rotberg’s First Amended Complaint does not disclose the
content of certain of the relevant text messad@B,describeghe content of thosmessagesm a
settlement lettewhich was attached to a declaration accompanying JAB’s motidkt. No.

41.) JAB’s counsel sent tlsettlement letteto Rotberg’s counsel subsequent to the filinghef

Initial Complaint, and the lettgrurports tadescrite and reproduce in fulhelanguage contained

in therelevanttext messages(id.) JAB relies on the content of the messages in arguing that

they did not contain marketing material, and asks the Court to do the same. (Dkt. No 40 at 8 n.2,
8-12.)

In asessing anotion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6),dastrict court is normally

required to look only to the allegations on the face of the complaRdth v. Jenningt89 F.3d
499, 509 (2d. Cir. 2007). However, flicertain circumstances, the courtynpermissibly
consider documents other than the complaint in ruling on a motion under Rule 12(lw)(6).
Most frequently, district courts consider “fdjuments that are attached to the complaint or
incorporated in it by reference” because such docuniarésieemed part of the pleadingd.
In addition, the Second Circuit has carved out a narrow set of circumstances inaunrtsmtay
consider a document outside the complaavieh if not attached or incorporated by reference.”
Id. This exception may apply tovg document “upon which [the complairsdlelyrelies and
which isintegral to the complairit 1d. (alternations and emphasis in original) (quotGwtec
Indus., Inc. v. Sum Holding L,R49 F.2d 42, 47 (2d Cir. 1991)

The Court acknowledges that Second Circuit precedent indicates that then@piake

notice ofthe content of the underlying text messagegurposes of Defendants’ Rule 12(b)(6)

10



motions, because the underlying text messages are documents upon which Rotbergeissdel
and which[are] integral to [his] complaint.”Cortec Indus.Inc,, 949 F.2dat47. But courts in
this Circuit have interprete@ortecas merely providing district courts with thescretionto
consider such documents when appropri&ee, e.g.Republic of Colom. v. Diageo N. Am. Inc.
531 F. Supp. 2d 365, 451 (E.D.N.Y. 20@7Cortecmerelystates that the district coudculd’
have considered documents in ruling on a Rule 12(b)(6) mgtion.

Here, the Court declines tmnsiderthecontent é the text messages in the form provided
by JAB. The specific document JAB attaches to its motion to dismiss is not a direciuaion
of the relevant text messages, but is instead a settlement letter drafted byuAR ounsel.

(Dkt. No. 41.) Impaantly, the document is devoid of amgrificationor certification as tdéhe
accuracy of theontent of the messages reproduced therein. Among the conditions required
prior to a district courtonsiderssuch external documents at the Rule 12(b)(6) stage is that “no
serious question as to their authenticity can exiBoth 489 F.3d at 509 (quotirramer v.

Time Warner InG.937 F.2d 767, 774 (2d Cir. 1991))AB’s settlement letter fails to satistyatt
condition.

Given the vagueness of Rotberg’s allegations regarding some of the teageseas
issue gee, e.g.FAC 1 14), the Court cannot conclude with certainty that the letter JAB produces
references the same texts upon which Rotberg basdsihis.c‘In any event, a ruling oa
motion for dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) is not an occasion for the court to makgsindi
of fact” Roth 489 F.3cat 509. Accordingly, the Court declines to consiter text messages in
the form submitted byAB. In doing so, the Court does not foreclose the possithibiyt could

rely onthose text messages if submitted in a different form at a later stage of this case, fo

11



example as part of a motion to dismiss angsequerdmended complairtat least to the extent
that Rotberg continues to integrate and rely on those text messages to ssppORAiclaims.

With this threshold issue now resolved, the Court turns to the substance of Defendants’
Rule 12(b)(6) motions to dismiss Rotberg’'s First Amendech@aint which concern two
elements of his TCPA clainthat Defendants used an ATDS, and that they called him without
his consent.

2. Automatic Telephone Dialing System

Defendant Vibes moves to dismiss Rotberg’s allegations that Defendanénseext
messages using an “automatic telephone dialysgesn” (Dkt. No. 38 at 10—11; Dkt. No. 62 at
11-15.%

The TCPA defines areitomatic telephone dialing systéeas “equipment which has the
capacity—(A) to store or produce telephone numbers to be called, using a random or sequential
number generator; and (B) to dial such numbers.” 47 U.S.C. § 227(a)(1). There is a long and
winding history of FCC and judicial attempts to construe this statutory languagenpaft
which have “generated substantial questions over the.{ye&@A Int’l, 885 F.3d at 701. At the
time Defendants initially filed their motions to dismiss, the D.C. Circuit was revieavahgect
challenge to the FCC’s 2015 ruling on the meaning of the tautofatic telephone dialing
system’ and the Court stayed this action and Defendants’ motions pending the outcome of that

case. (Dkt. No. 54.)

2 While the Courultimatelydismis@sRotberg’s First Amended Complaint on other
grounds, the Court reviews the sufficiency of his allegations regardingdefes’ use of an
ATDS to ensure granting Plaintiff leave to amend would not be fuiEeScottrade, Inc. v.
BroColnvs, Inc, 774 F. Supp. 2d 573, 577, 584 (S.D.N.Y. 2011) (denying leave to amend on
grounds of futility).

12



Since that time, the legal landscape surrounding the t@ubtorhatic telephone dialing
system has become somewhat less muddled. After the D.C. Circuit invalidated much of the
FCC'’s treatment of the terrage ACANt'l, 885 F.3d at 700, 703, the Second Circuit
independently reviewed the statutory language and issued an opinion clarifyireguivements
thatequipment must satisfy in order to be considered an autodidlgg.v. Time Warner Cable,
Inc., 894 F.3d 473 (2d Cir. 2018). King, the Second Circuit held that to qualify as an ATDS
under the statute, “a device&arrent functions, absent any modifications to the device’s
hardware or softard,]” must satisfy the function requirements set out in 47 U.S.C. § 227(a)(1).
Id. at 481. But the Second Circuit also held that TCPA liability would extend to calls fnaihe
such a device regdas$s ofwhether the device wasingits autodialingunctions at the time of
the offendingcall. Id. at 482.In so holding, he Second Circuit acknowledged thebtirts may
need to investigate, on a casgease basis, how much is needed to activate a device’s
autodialing potential in order to determivlether it cancurrently function as an autodialer.

Id. at 481.

Rotberg’s First Amended Complaint and the attached Exhibits rentfeiently
plausible his allegations that Defendants called him using a deitltéhe current capacity to
function as an autodialer. First and foremost, Rotberg correctly highlightéelstion that
Defendants sent him a set of teramsl conditions in which they requested that Rotbaggeeto
receive autodialed messagegDkt. No. 13-1; Dkt. No. 63 at 14.) Gtad, Defendants’ choice
to solicit Rotberg’sonsent to send him autodialed messages does not definitively prove that
theyused a device capableddingsa particularly in light ofinterveningclarification ofthe

meaning of thatermin the wake ofACAInternational Still, the indication in the terms and

13



conditions that Defendants intended to emplnyautodialerenders plausible Rotberg’s
allegation that their device was capable of functioning as one.

The First Amended Complaint also contains otiilrgations indicative of Defendants’
use of an automated calling platform: for example the use of a short code telephone numbe
(FAC 1 17), the sending of generic text messages (FAC 1 15), and Vibesssauyenaterials
suggesting that it had previously delivered more than four billion mobile messagell¢Dkt
13-12). These indicators of automation and mass marketing contribute to the plawadibilit
Plaintiff's allegations regarding Defendants’ use of an AT38eKrady v. Eleven Salon Spa
No. 16 Civ. 5999, 2017 WL 6541443, at *4 (E.D.N.Y. July 28, 20dEport and
recommendation adopted017 WL 6542462 (E.D.N.Y. Dec. 21, 2017) (holding that same type
of circumstantial evidence gave rise to reasonable inference that autodialsedpskar les
specific allegations regarding a TCPA defendant’s use of an autodialer havedsiviilar
motions to dismissSee Unchageri v. YuppTV USA, |ido. 17 Civ. 3862, 2018 WL 1184737,
at *3 (N.D. lll. Mar. 7, 2018) (collecting cases).

Discovery mayeveal that Defendants’ calling systems in fact lacked certain of the
capacities required to constitute an ATDS. Buhile [Rotberg] has ngbrovedthat
[Defendantsjused an ATDS to send him the text messages, proof is not necessary at this stage,
only plausibility, and thecomplaint together with its exhibits plausibly allege {lRsfendants]

did just that’ Id. The Court thus denies Defendant Vibes’ motion to dismiss Rotberg’s First
Amended Complaint for failure to plausibly allege that Defendagts’ the texts at issue using

an autodiale?.

3 Because the Court concludes that Plaintiff's allegations plausibly allagBdfiendants
employed a device capable of generating random numbers to be dialed, the Court niethisnot a
stage resolve their dispute regarding whether the capacity to d@as@ssential element of a

14



3. Consent

Defendantslso contendhat Rotberg’s TCPA claimshould be dismissdakcause
Rotberg consented teceivingthe messages at issue. (Dkt. No. 38 at 6-10, 17-19; Dkt. No. 40
at7-12.)

Calls “made wih the prior express consent of the called party” are not subject to TCPA
liability. 47 U.S.C. 8§ 227(b)(1)(A). The statute does not define “prior express cOrmérihe
FCC has promulgated regulations governing the level of consent a caller musipoibtatio
calling a cellphoneusing an ATDS “[B] oth parties rely principally ofthese]FCC rulings to
support their respective positiongfidthe Court will do the sameNigro v. Mercantile
Adjustment BureguLC, 769 F.3d 804, 806 (2d Cir. 2014).

The FCC has established a tiier system of consent, with the two tiers beipgdr
express consehand “prior expresswritten consent’ 47 C.F.R. 8§ 64.1200(a) (emphasis added).
The level of consent required for any given call turns on that callteebrid.

All calls other than those containing advertisements or constituting telemarkgtiirg re
only “the prior express consent of the called partg.”§ 64.1200(a)(1). The FCC has explained
that this lower threshold of consent can be satisfied by the simple act of giviagoboee
number directly to a callerSee, e.g.In re Rules and Regulations Implementing the Telephone
Consumer Protection Act of 1991, 7 FCC Rcd. 8752, 8769 { 31 (1992) (“[P]ersons who
knowingly release their phone numbers have in effect given their invitation oispenmto be

called at the number which they have given[.]”); In re Rules and Regulatiptesnhi@nting the

statutory autodialer. (Dkt. No. 62 at 9—10; Dkt. No. 63 at 7-19.) The Second CikCungjin
recognized this is ‘@omplicated question[Jandexpressly declined to answer B94F.3d at
481. Should discovery reveal thi¢fendantsdevice in fact lacked the capacity to generate
random numbers to be dialddefendants may renew this argumana subsequent stage of this
case

15



Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991, 30 FCC Rcd. 7961, 7991-92 § 52 (2015) (“For
nontelemarketingand nonadvertising calls, express consent can be demonstrated by the called
party giving prior express oral or written consent or, in the absence of irmtsutdithe
contrary, by giving his or her wireless number to the person initiating the datbdra
prerecorded call.”(footnote omitted)).
In contrast, fia callerwishes tause an ATDS to make &dll that includes or introduces
an advertisement or constitutes telemarketialge must obtaingrior expressvritten consent
47 C.F.R. 8 64.1200(a)(2) (emphasis added). The relevant regulations define this &éeighten
level of consent required for telemarketing or advertising calls as follows:
[A] n agreement, in writing, bearing the signature of the person called thay clearl
authorizes the selleo teliver or cause to be delivered to the person called
advertisements or telemarketing messages using an automatic telephone dialing
system or an artificial or prerecorded voice, and the telephone number to which
the signatory authorizes such advertisetmen telemarketing messages to be
delivered.
Id. 8 64.1200(f)(8). e regulations define “advertisement” as “any material advertising the
commercial availability or quality of any property, goods, or servigdsg 64.1200(f)(1), and
“telemarkeing” as “the initiation of a telephone call or message for the purpose of encouraging
the purchase or rental of, or investment in, property, goods, or services, whichnsttezht®
any person,id. 8 64.1200(f)(12).
Rotberg’s TCPA claims are basedtaro separate text messages that Defendants
allegedly sent ttiim: (1) the initial marketing text message, and (2) theooptconfirmation text

message. (FAC 4, 25, 29.) Bchis addressea turn.

a. Thelnitial Marketing Text Message

The Court firs addresses Defendants’ argument that Rothadgconsented to receive

whatRotbergterms “the initial marketing text messdge
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Rotberg concedes that he had given his phone number to Defendants prior to receiving
the initial marketing text message. (FAQ@3). This allegation by itself appears sufficient to
establish his prior express consent to receivetalmmarketing autodialed calls at that number.
“While there is a minority of courts that have found otherwise, the greghtzvafi authority
holds that an individual who knowingly provides her telephone number to another party without
limiting instructions has giv[en] her prior express consent to receive téiatanumber from
that party.” Daniel v. Five Stars Loyalty, IndNo. 15 Civ. 3546, 2015 WL 7454260, at *6 (N.D.
Cal. Nov. 24, 2015) (citing cases and relevant FCC ordas)also Saunders v. NCO Fin. Sys.,
Inc., 910 F. Supp. 2d 464, 467 (E.D.N.Y. 2012) (“[T]he authorities are almost unanimous that
voluntarily furnishing a cellphone number to a vendor . . . constitutes express consent.”)
(collecting cases).

Rotberg does not dispute this conclusion. Instead, Rotberg argues that thextitial t
message Defendants sent to him constituted telemarketing, and that when he glaveehis
number to Defendants he did not provide the expeesten consent the TCPA requires prior to
sending such telemarketing messages. (FAC $432Dkt. No. 44 at 1-5; Dkt. No. 46 at 3—7.)
Accordingly, the viability of Rotberg’s TCPA claim based on the initiatketing text message
turns on whether Rotberg has plausibly alleged that that the initial text messagatedns
telemarketing

Rotberg’s primary description of the initial marketing text message is as follows
“Sometime prior to February 25, 2016eféndants sent an initial marketing text message to
Rotberg’s cellular telephone.” (FAC 1 14.) Rotberg asserts that Defsrfdamt [] not
properly argue on the motion to dismiss that the initial text message was not a rgdesetin

message, for Mr. Rberg clearly alleges in the [First Amended Complaint] that it was.” (Dkt.
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No. 46 at 4.) Not soRotberg’s tautological description of the “initial marketing text message
as a text that contained marketing material is nothing more than a “formuitatioecof [one
of] the elements of [his] cause of action,” which the Supreme Court instructsifidgient to
survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motionflwombly 550 U.S. at 553pbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (“Threadbare
recitals of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclasemesits, do not
suffice.”) Rotberg cannot simply parrot a legal requirement of his causeaf exsufficiently
plead a claim for which reliefan be granted.

Furthermore, “the tenet that a court must accept as true all of the allegatiteised in
a complaint is inapplicable to legal conclusionkybal, 556 U.S. at 678. Rotberg’s conclusory
allegation that the initial text message constitl telemarketing-a legally defined term and a
required element of his TCPA claiss precisely the kind of legal conclusion that courts must
disregard. Accordingly, in assessing the plausibility of Rotberg'gadlten regarding the initial
text message “marketing” character, the Court disregards Rotberg’s conclusoryipkeses of
that text.

Beyond Rotberg generic references to thieitial telemarketing texmessage” (FAC
1114, 21), Rotberg’s onlgpecificallegation regarding the content of thexXt message is that it
referredrecipients‘to the webpage located http://bit.ly/1htGOTu,” a webpagehatRotberg
attaches as agxhibit to his First Amended Complaint. (FAC Y 23hatwebpage consists of
the terms and conditions required fortgapation in Defendants’ automated mobile marketing

program. (Dkt. No. 13-1%)But a caller seeking out a consumessgress writtergonsent to

4 Defendants cite case law suggesting that the Court should not even consider the content
of this web page in assessing the telemarketing character of the initial text me3sagd#olt v.
Redbox Automated Retail, LL8o. 11 Civ. 3046, 2013 WL 12114789, at *4 (S.D. Cal. June 20,
2013) (“The Court, however, declines to adopt this ‘look throagifoach to liability under the
TCPA. Rather, the Court looks to the texts themselves, . . . [not to] what a consumer would find
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sendsubsequertelemarketing or advertising textsnotas a matter of law already engaged in
telemarketing Courtsaddressing similacircumstance have held that once express consent to
receive nortelemarketing texts is establishéd text sent solely for the purpose of allowing the
recipient to complete a registration processs not telemarketing within the meaning4af
C.F.R. 8 64.1200)f12).” Daniel, 2015 WL 7454260at *4; see alscAderhold v. Car2go N.A.,
LLC, No. 13 Civ. 489, 2014 WL 794802, at *9 (W.D. Wash. Feb. 27, 201RMe{ftiff]| argues
that[ ] the text. . .was a telemarketing text. The court has no diffjghittoncluding that he is
mistaken. There is no indication that the text was intended for anything other thempermit
[plaintiff] to completeegistration’). Here, Plaintiff received a strdigforward contract setting
forth the terms and conditions by which he could consent to receive marketinglaateri
subsequent messages, after he had given his prior express consent to beldpnf#ide The
Court declines to construe the linkewebpageas itselfconstitutingmarketing material.
Because Rotberg’s First Amended Complaint fails to plead facts sufficisapport his
assertion that the “initial marketing text message” constituted telemarketingtaineoh
advertising materials such that Rotberg’s expva#iten consent was requd, his TCPA claims
based on that initial text message must be dismigSean that Rotberdid not deem it
necessary to include the full larage of the initial text message in kisst Amended Complaint
despitereferencindinks provided bythat initial text message and the precise wording of other
texts (FAC 11 15, 23)t may well bethat Rotbergimply cannoplausibly allege that the initial
text message contained marketing materNévertheless, the Court will grant Rotberg’s request

for leave b replead his allegations based on the “initial marketing text message” (Dkt. No. 44 at

if he or she pursued the link.”) The Court declines to address the persuasiveneslif the
court’s analysis because here,eeensidering the content of the linked-to webpage, Plaintiff’s
allegations are insufficient as a matter of law.
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4), provided that he can do so in good faith in a manner consistent with this ofaaedayden
v. Cnty. of Nassau.80 F.3d 42, 53 (2d Cir. 1999) (“When a motiomligmiss is granted, the
usual practice is to grant leave to amend the complaint.”).

b. The Opt-Out Confirmation Text

The second text message tbafendantsllegedlysent in violation of the TCPA is the
opt-out confirmation message. (FAC 1 25, 293irfiff alleges that he received this text after
sending the word “stop” to Defendants’ short code phone number. (FAC | 25.) Plaintiff agai
does not provide the actual content of that text message. Inséealteges that it illegally
contained marketg material in the form of a link to a website thatattaches as an Exhibit to
his First Amended Complaintld(; Dkt. No. 132.)

Both Plaintiff and Defendants rely principally on the FCC’s declaratorgguih
response to a petition from SoundB@emmunications, Indo assessvhether tis opt-out
confirmation text violated the TCPASeeln re RulesandRegulations Implementinidpe
Telephone Consumer Protection AEt1991(* Soundie”), 27 FCC Rcd. 15,391 (20).2In that
ruling, the FCC “conclude[dhat a consumer’s prior express consent to receive text messages
from an entity can be reasonably construed to include consent to receive a fingheotext
message confirming that such consent is being revoked at the request of that conisLiaie
15,394 § 7. Howevethe FCCheld thatpermissibleopt-out confirmation texts would be
“limited to texts that: 1) merely confirm the consuimept-out request and do not include any
marketing or promotional information; and 2) are the only additioressage sent to the
consumer after receipt of the eqit request. Id. at 15397  11.

The FCC acknowledged thstibsequent application i$ SoundBe ruling would require
some ‘feview][of] questionable confirmation texts on a chyezase basis.'ld. at 153979 12

TheFCCprovided the following guidance for conducting such a review:
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On the one side, we believe that confirmation texts that include contact
information or instructions as to how a consumer can opt back in fall reasonably
within consumer consent. On the other, texts that clearly contain marketing or
promotional materials (such as “your request to opt-out of future messages will be
honored but we are offering you a 10% discount on our products”) and texts that
encourage consumei call or otherwise contact the sender in an attempt to
market, including such texts that, while neutral on their face, lead to a mgrket
message if the consumer contacts the sender, are likely beyond the scope of the
consumer’s prior consent.

Applying that guidance tthe First Amended Complainttescription of Defendants’
opt-out confirmation text, the Court has no trouble concludinghiestext falls into the first
categoryof permissible opbut confirmations. Th&irst Amended Complairtoes not
reproduce the language thie opt-out confirmation, but references only a URL contaivitdn
that text. (FAC § 25.Plaintiff alleges thatite relevantJRL, “Vibes.com/help,” ledo a
webpagecontaining a blank form under the header “Consumer Text Messaging Help Desk,”
which invited users to submit requests for help with technical issuesttpgriencd with
Vibes’'s automatic text messaging prografdkt. No. 13-2.) Thisform by itselfis clearly
intended to do nothing more than provide consumers avitteans of contacting Vibés help,
and thus is akin to providing “instructions as to how a consumer can opt back in,” which “fall[s]
reasonably within consumer conser@dundie, 277 FCC Rcd. at 15,397 § 12.

Plaintiff disputes this characterization of the webpage locatéibas.com/help. In
doing so, he emphasizes that both the top and bottom of the help webpage contain links with
titles such as “Meet Vibes,” “News,” “Events,” and “Our Platfgr@ach of which leads to
webpages that provide information promoting Vibegsvices. (FAC 1 226.) The Court is
unpersuadebly Plaintiff’'s argument As Vibesnotes it would be odd indeed fafibesto

employan opt-outtext message sent to amdividual consumeof JAB’s retailclothingas an
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opportunity to advertise itmassmarketing servicegearedoward“some of the world’s biggest
brands’ (Dkt. No. 13-12seealsoDkt. No. 38 at 19.)Rather than evidencing Vibes attempt

to market,” the presence of thdsis on the help page merely indicatbat Vibeschose to

locateits help page on its own website, whicmist inconsistent witmeasoning of th&oundite
ruling, 277 FCC Rcd. at 15,397  1¥Zibess permissible decisioto include“information or
instruction$ in an opt-out confirmation text did not become unlawful because those instructions
were housed on a web platform that peripherally contained nondescript links to other portions of
Vibes'swebsite. See id. That thosdinks mightlead thecurious consumer to marketing material
locatedon another webpage does madicate thathe twiceremoved underlying text message

was intended to conveyrarketing or promotional informati®nn violation ofthe FCC'’s

guidelines for gch text messages$eed. at 15397 § 11.

This holding does not foreclosige possibilitythat the language of thenderlying text
messagéself mighthave containetnpermissible marketingaterial As it standsbecause the
First Amended Complains devoid of any reference to the speatfimtent of the opbut text
other than the link to Vibes’s help page, the Court cannot say that such a conslpkiasible
for purposes of Defendants’ Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. The First Amended Coisiplaint
claims based on the opt-out confirmattemt accordingly must be dismisseBut the Court will
grant Rotberg’s request for leave to replead his allegations based on the opt-outtionfitext
in @ manner consistent with this opinion. (Dkt. No. 44 at 4.)

V. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasorn3efendantsmotionsto dismiss Plaintiff Rotberg’s First
Amended Complaint are GRANTED, and the First Amended Complaint is DISMISSED

pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6).
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Plaintiff is granted leave to replead bilynig a Second Amended Complaint consistent
with this opinion, provided that any such complaint must be filed within 21 days of the date of
this opinion.

The Clerk of Court is directed to close the motions at Docket Numbers 37 and 39.

SO ORDERED.

Dated:November 5, 2018

New York, New York /%M

V J. PAUL OETKEN
United States District Judge
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